
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Community Safety and 
Environment Policy and 

Accountability Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Monday 20 July 2020 6.30 pm 
Online – Virtual Meeting 

 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration Opposition 

Councillor Bora Kwon (Chair) 
Councillor Iain Cassidy 
Councillor David Morton 
Councillor Ann Rosenberg 
 

Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler 
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Amrita Gill 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 07776672845 
 E-mail: amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

THIS MEETING WILL BE HELD REMOTELY 
 
Members of the press and public can watch the meeting on YouTube:  
https://youtu.be/OofkeATOKSg  
 
 
To ask a public question, you will need to register to speak at the meeting.  
 
To do this, please send an email to amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk by 12pm on Friday 17th 
July 2020 and joining instructions to the Teams meeting will be sent to you.  
 
 

Date Issued: 10 July 2020 

https://youtu.be/OofkeATOKSg


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Community Safety and Environment 
Policy and Accountability Committee 

Agenda 
 

20 July 2020 
 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2.   ROLL CALL AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 At the start of the meeting the Chair will carry out a roll-call of committee 
members to confirm attendance. Members will also have an opportunity 
to declare any interests. 
 
If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter. The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Standards 
Committee. 

 

 

3.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  4 - 14 

 To approve the minutes of the previous meetings held on 28th January 
and 10th February.  
 

 

4.   PUBLIC QUESTIONS   

 For the Chair to invite those members of the public that have registered  



to speak, to ask questions on the reports within the agenda.  
 
To ask a public question, you will need to register to speak at the 
meeting.  
 
To do this, please send an email to amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk by 12pm on 
Friday 17th July 2020 and joining instructions to the Microsoft Teams 
meeting will be sent to you. 
 

5.   PARKS AND OPEN SPACES IN THE BOROUGH  15 - 24 

 This report provides an overview of actions taken in parks and open 
spaces in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 

 

6.   TEMPORARY CYCLE LANES  25 - 46 

 This report sets out the context around the installation of temporary 
cycle lanes in the borough in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
 

 

 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Community Safety 
and Environment 

Policy and 
Accountability 

Committee 
Minutes 

 

Tuesday 28 January 2020 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Bora Kwon (Chair), Iain Cassidy, David Morton, 
Ann Rosenberg and Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler 
 
Other Councillors: Wesley Harcourt (Cabinet Member for the Environment)  
 
Officers: Bram Kainth (Chief Officer – Public Realm), Osagie Ezekiel (Deputy 
Head of Parking), Masum Choudhury (Head of Transport Policy – Public Realm), 
Hitesh Jolapara (Strategic Director of Finance and Governance), Emily Hill 
(Assistant Director of Finance) Kellie Gooch, (Head of Finance -Environment) Gary 
Hannaway (Head of Finance - Parking), John Galsworthy (Parking Manager) 
 
Members of the Deputation:  James Spokoini and 2 Residents 
                                                 

 

 
1. MINUTES  

 
Safer Cycle Pathway and A4 Cycle Highway 
Councillor Bora Kwon (Chair), Iain Cassidy, David Morton, Ann Rosenberg 
and Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler noted that the cost figures for the 
engagement process had not been circulated and requested that this action 
be followed up. 
 
Councillor Bora Kwon (Chair), Iain Cassidy, David Morton, Ann Rosenberg 
and Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler requested that it be made clear in the 
minutes that Officers said that there wasn’t an option for the scheme to not be 
implemented, if residents didn’t support the proposals. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the, subject to the above the minutes of the meeting held on 9 
September 2019 were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 

 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Sharon Lea (Strategic Director of 
Residents' Services) 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4. 2020 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY (MTFS)  
 
Corporate Budget Context 
Emily Hill (Assistant Director of Finance), gave a presentation outlining the 
Council’s budget proposals and noted the scale of challenges facing local 
government in recent years. She showed slides that outlined the funding 
reductions across local government and the Council. 
 
It was noted that the gross General Fund budget was £525m, of which the net 
budget requirement of £154.3m was funded from Council resources (such as 
council tax and business rates) and general Government grant. In addition, 
Government grant funding would increase by £3.6m from 2019/20 to 2020/21 
as a result of the Government’s pre-election spending round in September 
2019. This increase followed a decade of grant cuts with overall funding 
reducing by £68m from 2010/11 to 2020/21 which was a real terms funding 
cut of 54%. 
 
The Council continued to face challenges to manage any additional costs that 
might arise outside of the budget forecast. The budget recommended a 
1.99% increase in Council Tax and 2% adult social care precept levy. Each 
would raise £4.8m over 4 years and £1.2 in the first year. This would support 
investment in key services for residents and future financial resilience. 
Additionally, it was noted that the business rates system was changing for a 
fourth successive year.  
 
It was assumed that the budget gap would increase in each of the next three 
years if no action was taken to reduce overall expenditure. The Government 
will undertake a ‘fair funding review’ in 2020/21. This had the remit of 
reconsidering how grant was distributed between authorities. 
 
Departmental Budget 
Kellie Gooch (Head of Finance - Environment) and Gary Hannaway (Head of 
Finance - Parking) gave a presentation of the Environment revenue budget 
for 2020/21, highlighting the following key points:  

 The Department managed a controllable expenditure budget of £70m, 
with a targeted income of £23m. 

 The service collected income for Council tax, business rates, land 
charges and also secured external grant funding from TfL. 

 The savings plan for 2020/21 aimed to reduce the existing £1.5m 
budget pressures, deliver new sovereign services within budget and 
provide £1m of new budgetary savings for the Council. 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler asked what the council tax collection 
rate was. In response Hitesh Jolapara (Strategic Director of Finance and 
Governance) explained that last year the base collection rate was 97.5% and 
the forecast for this year remained the same.  
 
Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler queried whether the forecasted 
spending of the reserves was significantly different compared to last year. 
Emily Hill provided an overview of how the reserves were spent last year - i.e. 
moving to a new Council system and IT investment for agile working. It was 
noted that the Council was very conscious that the reserves played a crucial 
role in good public financial management and resilience. The reserves for the 
Council fell into the mid-range category compared to other London local 
authorities. The Council was in the process of reviewing its financial strategy 
and had forecasted an extra contribution of £7.2m to reserves this year. 
These reserves would also contribute to future regeneration schemes such as 
the Civic Campus.  
 
Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler asked how the Town Hall renovation 
would be funded. Hitesh Jolapara explained that it would be funded through a 
mixture of revenue and capital expenditure over three years. 
 
Councillor David Morton questioned why there was a drop-in business rates 
from £123m to £78m. Hitesh Jolapara, referring to page 17 of the agenda 
pack, explained the changes in the business rates regime and noted that this 
was an assumption of what the Council would retain under the pool. It was 
noted that this wouldn’t have an impact on the funding as other adjustments 
were made. The bottom line of the table demonstrated that business rates 
funding for Council services changed very little, although different pilot 
arrangements had been introduced.  
 
The Chair asked for further clarification around why there had been a 
fluctuation in business rates compared to last year. In response Hitesh 
Jolapara explained that the system had been developing since 2017, the 
difference related to the different rates of retention by Hammersmith and 
Fulham under the different pilot arrangements and that the instability in the 
Government’s approach to business rates made medium-term financial 
planning challenging. It was noted that the Council had a stable finance team 
in place who continued to deliver realistic forecasts.  
 
RESOLVED 
That the Committee noted and commented on the update. 
 

5. REVIEW OF COUNCIL RESPONSE TO MODERN SLAVERY  
 
This item was deferred to the next meeting. 
 

6. PARKING ENFORCEMENT IN THE BOROUGH  
 
Osagie Ezekiel (Deputy Head of Parking) gave a presentation and provided 
an overview of parking within the borough and noted the following points: 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 The Parking & Transport Policy team monitored and reviewed parking 
policies to ensure that they met the needs of the local community. 

 The Council maintained a balance between the different demands from 
residents, businesses and visitors, whilst ensuring there was good 
access for pedestrians, cyclists, buses and other vehicles. 

 The Council now had 135 Source London charging points, 79 lamp 
column points and 5 rapid charge points for the use of electrical 
vehicles. 

 An outline of the different parking zone reviews was provided, 
highlighting that the Council was considering the concerns raised by 
local residents.  

 Cashless parking was on the rise, and 88% of all payments to park 
were via RingGo. 

 
The Chair noted that the Council had received two deputations from the same 
group of residents. She outlined the procedure for the deputations and 
explained that they would be addressed separately, allowing a gap between 
the two for questions. 
 
Deputation 1 – PCN moving traffic yellow box junction at Bagley’s Lane 
 
James Spokoini, Resident, addressed the Committee on behalf of the 
deputation and the following points were noted: 

 The closure of Harwood Terrace had caused 1000’s of residents to 
pass through the yellow box junction at Bagley’s Lane which was felt to 
be an entrapment. 

 It was felt that road users were unfairly penalised as traffic was forced 
through the junction and this needed to be reviewed accordingly. 
Driver frustration was hugely increased as a result and traffic wasn’t 
‘moving freely’ in advance of the junction. 

 He felt that the consultation process was flawed, and residents were 
not consulted properly.  

 61 residents didn’t support the plan and felt that the Council didn’t take 
the feedback received from all residents into consideration.  

 
A heat map was then circulated to Committee members which highlighted 
areas in the borough where residents were not in favour of the closure. Mr 
Spokoini felt that the lack of consultation with residents had a detrimental 
effect on residents. Feedback received from residents had suggested that the 
road closure had not improved traffic or reduced congestion. However, it had 
led to an increase in PCN’s issued as a result of stand-still traffic in the yellow 
box junction at Bagley’s Lane. He explained that the consultation only 
addressed residents on the road and felt that a wider consultation was 
necessary. 
 
Questions from the Committee 
 
Councillor Bora Kwon (Chair), Iain Cassidy, David Morton, Ann Rosenberg 
and Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler asked how the closure of Harwood Terrace 
had affected the day to day lives of local residents. In response James 
Spokoini explained that he had received a high volume of emails from local 
residents expressing their concerns around this matter on a daily basis. He 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

referred to a resident who recently had a stem cell transplant, noting that 
since the closure her symptoms had deteriorated due to the rise of pollution in 
her area. In addition, he felt that a better approach could be achieved by re-
opening the road whilst a detailed consultation to find a suitable solution with 
all residents was delivered.  
 
Councillor Bora Kwon (Chair), Iain Cassidy, David Morton, Ann Rosenberg 
and Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler noted her concerns around the road closure. 
She felt the closure was ‘extraordinary’, given such limited consultation with 
local residents had taken place and as a result had shifted traffic congestion 
into the Sands End area. 
 
Councillor Ann Rosenberg explained that according to feedback received 
from residents the gridlock caused by the road closure took place during peak 
hours. However, outside of these hours the traffic was shown to be fairly light 
and steady. She felt that this was a wider challenge that needed to be 
addressed across London.  
 
James Spokoini noted that a petition relating to the closure of Harwood 
Terrace was submitted in January 2020 and questioned why it had been 
pushed back to the March meeting of Cabinet. He raised concerns around the 
Council failing to respond to the needs of local residents. 
 
The Chair explained that an Extraordinary meeting would be held on 10 
February at 7pm to provide residents an opportunity to raise their concerns in 
further detail. This also allowed officers the time to address specific concerns 
raised at this meeting. Additionally, details of the Extraordinary meeting would 
be made available on the Council’s website. 
 
Deputation 2 – Resident concerns relating to the closure of Harwood 
Terrace 
 
James Spokoini addressed the Committee on behalf of the deputation and 
the following points were noted: 

 Around 2000 local residents felt that their voices were not being heard 
in relation to the local experimental road closure at Harwood Terrace. 

 He felt that the closure had a detrimental effect upon the lives and 
livelihoods of local residents and made references to statistics 
provided at the meeting to support this claim. 

 7 local wards had been impacted by the closure of Harwood Terrace, 
however they were not part of the initial consultation. 

 He expressed concerns around the closure of the road given all the 
feedback received from local residents. 

 
Questions from the Committee 
 
Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler said that James Spokoini had 
provided a very clear explanation on behalf of local residents. She felt that a 
wider consultation was necessary. She felt that the project was inadequate 
and had not thoroughly been planned through from the beginning.  
 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

James Spokoini said that a detailed copy of a traffic study relating to the 
closure of Harwood Terrace was sent to Councillor Wesley Harcourt (Cabinet 
Member for the Environment) to review, however the road still remained 
closed. In addition, he noted that residents suffered with daily noise and air 
pollution related issues as a result of the stationary traffic outside their homes. 
He questioned why the road was still closed given the detrimental impact this 
had on local residents. 
 
Councillor Iain Cassidy enquired if there was a reasonable outcome that 
would be welcomed by the residents going forward. In response James 
Spokoini explained that residents felt that the Council had not listened to 
them. He suggested that Harwood Terrace be reopened to allow a wider 
consultation to take place. In addition, he noted that he was not impressed 
with the way that the Council had handled this situation to date and was keen 
to find an alternative outcome that considered the needs of all residents.  
 
The Chair gave members of the public the opportunity to ask further 
questions in relation to parking matters in the borough. 
 
Residents from Fulham Reach noted their concerns around match day 
parking, particularly in Zone T. They felt that free parking on Saturdays and 
Sundays enabled non-residents to park in Zone T during match days. 
However, this caused total gridlock in the area, creating disruption for local 
residents. In addition, residents felt that as a solution restricting parking for 
non-residents up to 2 hours before a match would be fitting for residents, 
businesses and schools. Furthermore, it was noted that a bus network 
operated down Fulham Road for anyone with mobility issues. 
 
A resident explained that the 2-hour parking restriction prior to a match 
needed to be applied borough wide due to challenges faced around 
displacement. Bram Kainth (Chief Officer – Public Realm) explained that 
issues around displacement were part of a wider challenge faced by Councils 
across London. In the meantime, the Council would work with local residents 
to develop a scheme that would directly address the match day parking 
concerns in Zone T.  
 
A parking stress survey had already been issued in the borough to help better 
understand resident concerns and demand to help build a picture to inform 
next steps in time for 2020/21. 
 
Councillor Iain Cassidy enquired whether the Council had any leverage to 
work in collaboration with Fulham Football club to try and reduce the number 
of fans driving into the area on match days. Bram Kainth said that he would 
need to check to see what was agreed as part of the stadium expansion 
planning application and would explore this further.  
 
The Chair asked if officers had met with Fulham Football Club to further 
discuss the parking pressures around the stadium. Bram Kainth said that a 
meeting had not been set up, however a travel plan (an action-based 
document) was issued during the development of planning arrangements to 
allow residents to engage.  
 

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

A resident asked for further clarification to be provided around the protocol for 
changes made to parking restrictions to the zones within the borough. In 
response Masum Choudhury commented that it was common to receive 
parking requests from residents for the Council to make changes accordingly. 
He outlined the procedure and explained that a statutory process would be 
followed prior to implementing any changes.  
 
Councillor Iain Cassidy commented that the Council fully supported the idea 
of co-production and was keen to work with residents on future proposals. He 
noted that It was important that all residents’ views were heard to find a 
suitable outcome going forward. 
 
The Chair asked for clarification to be provided on timescales. In response 
Bram Kainth explained that a programme of CPZ parking reviews had been 
established. It was noted that the Council was keen to progress on this matter 
promptly in consultation with relevant Cabinet Members. The next steps 
would be to meet residents outside of the Committee to discuss the matter in 
further detail. 
  
The Chair advised residents to stay in touch with Councillor Iain Cassidy to 
raise any further concerns relating to this matter.  
 
A resident in support of the Harwood Terrace closure commented that this 
trial had been hugely successful.  She raised concerns around unhealthy 
pollution levels and the high volume of cars that passed through on a daily 
basis. She said the situation had reached crisis point as there had been many 
minor, serious, and near fatal accidents on Harwood Terrace prior to the 
closure. Additionally, the traffic across the whole area had significantly 
reduced as a result of the closure. 
 
Another resident in support of the Harwood Terrace closure felt that the 
reduction of journey times was not a justifiable reason to re-open the Terrace. 
He mirrored the concerns raised above and noted that re-opening the road 
would only cause increases in traffic related issues again. He felt that 
residential roads should not be used as a ‘pressure release’ and over time 
this would not be sustainable. In addition, he explained that the streets 
needed to be environmentally friendly for cyclists and residents and whole 
heartedly supported the closure of Harwood Terrace. 
 
The Chair requested that officers prepared for the Extraordinary meeting and 
ensured that the report in relation to Harwood Terrace addressed the 
following key points: 

 Outline the history of Harwood Terrace and how the issues arose. 
 Outline the consultation and decision-making process for the Closure 

of Harwood Terrace. 
 Provide proposals of how the consultation can be improved going 

forward and consider the deputation presented yesterday. 
 
Councillor Iain Cassidy asked if newer vehicles with larger footprints (e.g. 
4x4s) affected the number of parking spaces available in the borough. Had 
the Council been required to make different assumptions about the space 
required for each car? Bram Kainth said that although they may look larger in 

Page 10



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

size, they usually did fit into the footprint of a standard parking space, and it 
hadn’t affected the amount of parking in the borough. 
 
Councillor Iain Cassidy asked how the Council managed the growth of electric 
cars in the borough. Had the Council considered the location of the charging 
points, given the disruption this would cause to pedestrians and disabled 
people, if they continued to be placed on pavements? Officers explained that 
the Council would avoid placing charging points on pavements where it was 
deemed to be a potential hazard to pedestrians. Officers were familiar with 
the challenges relating to pavement mobility and these would be factored into 
future development plans. Where it was causing a high level of disruption, the 
Council would look at moving the charging points to carriage way spaces.  
 
RESOLVED 
That the Committee noted and commented on the update. 
 

7. WORK PROGRAMME AND DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
The Chair noted that the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) 
and Modern Slavery report would be brought to the meeting in March.  
 
Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler requested that the Crime Commission 
report also be brought to the March meeting.  
 
RESOLVED 
That the Committee noted the work programme. 
 
 

 
Meeting started: 7:00pm 
Meeting ended: 9:00pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 

Contact officer: Amrita Gill 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 07776672845 
 E-mail: amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 11



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Community Safety and 
Environment Policy and 

Accountability 
Committee 

Minutes 
 

Monday 10 February 2020 
 

 

 
PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Bora Kwon (Chair), Iain Cassidy, David Morton, 
Ann Rosenberg and Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler 
 
Other Councillors: Councillors Ben Coleman (Cabinet Member for Health and 
Adult Social Care), Wesley Harcourt (Cabinet Member for the Environment), Larry 
Culhane (Cabinet Member for Children and Education), Matt Uberoi, Matt Thorley, 
Frances Stainton, and Sue Fennimore (Deputy Leader) 
 
Officers: Sharon Lea (Strategic Director for the Environment), Masum Choudhury 
(Head of Transport Policy), Bram Kainth (Chief Officer – Public Realm), David 
Abbott (Scrutiny Manager) 
 
There were around 70 residents in attendance.  

 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

3. HARWOOD TERRACE CLOSURE  
 
Councillor Ben Coleman (Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care) 
introduced the item and discussed the reasons for holding a public meeting 
on the closure of Harwood Terrace. He recognised there were strong feelings 
from residents on this issue and said the Council wanted to listen and 
understand how residents were being affected and hoped that the Council 
could work together with residents on a solution. 
 
Masum Choudhury (Head of Transport Policy) gave a presentation setting out 
the context for the Harwood Terrace experimental closure, the reasons for the 

Page 12



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

closure, and the data that informed the decision. Residents asked that the 
slides be shared after the meeting. 

ACTION: David Abbott 
 
NOTE: The slides are available on the Council’s website: Harwood Terrace 
presentation 
 
Residents challenged the quality of some of the data in the presentation and 
requested: 

 Comparable data from before the closure to benchmark against. 

 The figures for all surrounding streets. 

 A list of local roads that had traffic surveys and the traffic survey 
data. 

 Any environmental studies that had been done on the impact of the 
closure on surrounding streets. Though Masum Choudhury noted 
that no air quality or environmental studies had been 
commissioned. 

 
ACTION: Masum Choudhury 

 
Masum Choudhury continued with the presentation and went through a 
number of potential options that would help resolve the issues felt by 
residents. These were split into ‘area-based options’ and ‘micro options’. It 
was noted that these were not the only options available and were intended to 
stimulate discussion. 
 
The area-based options were: 

 Area-Based Option 1 – Harwood Terrace remained closed but 
further mitigations were put in place including preventing right turns 
from Wandsworth Bridge Road northbound into Cresford Road, 
Bovingdon Road, Sandilands Road, Broughton Road Approach, 
Rosebury Road, and Stephendale Road – and no left turns from 
Townmead Road into Bagleys Lane. 

 Area-Based Option 2 – Reopen Harwood Terrace but put in 
measures to reduce traffic in surrounding streets used to access 
Harwood terrace (e.g. make accessible to residents only). 

 
The micro options were: 

 Micro Option 1 - Harwood Terrace remained closed with mitigation 
measures to reduce traffic queuing at traffic signals. 

 Micro Option 2 – Reopen Harwood Terrace with restrictions (e.g. 
one-way, restrict to peak times). 

 Micro Option 3 – Reopen Harwood Terrace and revisit after the 
Gas Works development access road opens. 

 
Officers noted that all of the options presented had challenges associated 
with them. 
 

Page 13

http://democracy.lbhf.gov.uk/documents/s112455/Appendix%201%20-%20Harwood%20Terrace%20Presentation%20added%20after%20the%20meeting.pdf
http://democracy.lbhf.gov.uk/documents/s112455/Appendix%201%20-%20Harwood%20Terrace%20Presentation%20added%20after%20the%20meeting.pdf


_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

A number of residents wanted the Council to take a broader, more ‘holistic’ 
look at the issue of traffic in the borough. Residents made the point that 
making decisions about individual roads in isolation would inevitably have 
knock-on effects on neighbouring roads. Some residents felt there needed to 
be a clear overall direction set by the Council – did the Council want to stop 
cars using the borough as a cut-through to other parts of London entirely? Or 
did the Council want cars to be able to move through the borough as quickly 
as possible? What were the long-term goals? 
 
Residents suggested a number of potential solutions: 

 Opening Chelsea Harbour to local residents. 

 Opening the Imperial Wharf barrier. 

 Building a new road as part of the new Gas Works development, 
going from Imperial around the back by the Rose pub (it was noted 
that this was already happening with Michael Road). 

 Having special permits and a technology solution that only allowed 
residents into certain roads. 

 Making Harwood Terrace a one-way road. 

 Re-routing the Number 11 bus along Fulham Road, preventing it 
blocking traffic when turning right at the junction New Kings Road. 

 
Councillor Ben Coleman suggested that an intervention from Greg Hands MP, 
Member for Chelsea and Fulham, would be required to support the route 
through Chelsea Harbour. 
 
Councillor Ben Coleman proposed that residents formed a working group to 
work with the Council to come up with an initial solution by the next Cabinet 
meeting in March. This was agreed and several residents volunteered for the 
group. Officers would contact potential working-group members shortly after 
the meeting to progress the working groups. 

ACTION: Sharon Lea 
 

 
Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 9.45 pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 

Contact officer: David Abbott 
Scrutiny Manager 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 07776 672877 
 E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk  
 

Page 14

mailto:david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
Report to:   Community Safety and Environment Committee 
 
Date:  20/07/2020 
 
Subject: Response to Covid pandemic in Parks and Open Spaces 
  
Report of: Steve Hollingworth Assistant Director Leisure, Sport & Culture 

Responsible Director:  Sharon Lea – Strategic Director for the Environment 
 

 
Summary  
 
This is a report giving an overview of actions taken in Parks and Open Spaces in 
response to the Covid pandemic. 
 
Recommendations 
 

1. For the Committee to note and comment on the report. 
 
 
Wards Affected: All 

 
 

H&F Priorities 
 
 

Our Priorities Summary of how this report aligns to the 
H&F Priorities  

 Creating a compassionate 
council 

Providing parks and open spaces to support 
community needs during the Covid 
pandemic. 

 Being ruthlessly financially 
efficient 

Exploring how a new grounds maintenance 
contract can accommodate extraordinary 
pressures and events. 

 Doing things with local 
residents, not to them 

Community engagement to understand how 
volunteers, groups and sports clubs can 
operate during the Covid pandemic. 

 Taking pride in H&F Continued investment in parks including 
improving biodiversity, enhancing social 
value and mitigating climate change. 

 Building shared prosperity To allow safe access to high quality public 
open spaces for exercise, interaction and 
mental wellbeing. 

Contact Officer(s): 
 
Name: Richard Gill 
Position: Senior Parks Manager 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



Telephone: 07833 482119 
Email: Richard.gill@lbhf.gov.uk  
 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
None 
 

 

 
1. Decision to Close parks and subsequent re-opening  

 
1.1 Due the outbreak of the Covid pandemic, a decision was taken by the Leader 

of the Council on Sunday 22nd March to close all parks due to the lack of 
social distancing and the health risk from the spread of Covid.  

 
1.2 Only a half of our 62 parks, open spaces and cemeteries are locked daily. 

Many of our open spaces such as Wormwood Scrubs, Eel Brook Common, 
Parsons Green and Brook Green have only a low post and rail fence and 
cannot be closed to public access. Where parks could be closed and locked, 
this was implemented. 

 
1.3 Many complaints were received from the public while the parks were closed. 

Most people understood why this action had been taken, but also placed a 
high value on green spaces for exercise, walking dogs and for mental 
wellbeing. 

 
1.4 In order to re-open the parks, it was important to put measures in place to 

help maintain social distancing. These measures included the use of 
appropriate signage and staff resources to engage with residents. 

 
1.5 The signage consisted of a combination of large banners, placed around the 

edges of every park and public open space, to reinforce the social distancing 
message and information in the parks that all facilities including playgrounds, 
toilets, cafes and sports buildings were closed. See Appendix 1 Illustrations 1 
and 2. 

 
1.6 By Friday 27th March all signage was in place and enough staffing was 

secured, to enable parks to re-open in a managed way and provide access for 
residents to exercise. 

 
 
2. Effectiveness of patrolling and enforcement of restrictions in the parks   
 
2.1      The council worked alongside the Metropolitan Police, using their guidance of 

engagement first, to encourage people to social distance, leave or disperse. A 
mixture of council officers including Parks Police, volunteer council officers 
and contractor staff, together with Park Guard, were deployed to patrol all 
parks and greenspaces. Key parks with higher footfall had additional patrols.  

 

Page 16

mailto:Richard.gill@lbhf.gov.uk


2.2 New powers to enforce social distancing were available to the 
 Metropolitan Police to issue fixed penalty notices (FPN’s) to people not 
 complying with the Governments guidelines on social distancing. However 
 due to the engagement first approach, up to the end of June the Police in H&F 
 had not issued any FPN’s. 

 
2.3 Park Guard are a security contractor recruited temporarily to reinforce the 

Parks Police presence and ensure that the staffing complement was enough. 
The Parks Police were the intelligence lead during the pandemic. All the front-
line engagement staff were tasked and co-ordinated through the Community 
Safety Management Team, to ensure that communication lines and actions 
were clear and that assets were deployed into areas of most need at the 
optimum times. 

 
2.4 The Parks Police worked closely with CCTV to ascertain which parks had 

immediate need for response. They worked with the police to share, and 
receive, intelligence where challenges were being identified. 

 
2.5 The Parks Police and Community Safety Management also worked closely 

with teams of wardens and marshals during the pandemic, including teams of 
volunteers to provide additional support at weekends. The increase in visitors 
to parks and open spaces during lockdown was estimated at 200%-300% 
above normal. In some areas such as along the riverside path, this caused 
congestion. In order to mitigate this, temporary restrictions were introduced on 
cycling and jogging between 10am and 6pm, to allow pedestrians to use the 
path more freely. To help enforce these restrictions, signage was designed 
and installed along the river path and Park Guard and Community Safety 
Wardens were deployed to engage with path users, to ensure that they 
adhered to these new rules. These patrols have continued, albeit without Park 
Guard who have been stood down. There are also several marshals from 
Conway’s (the council`s highway contractor) encouraging social distancing on  
Hammersmith Bridge. 

 
2.6      In the early stages of the pandemic when Government advice was that parks 

were for exercise only; some park benches were taped off in very busy areas 
to avoid congestion. Parks Police were used to engage and remind people to 
move on from benches for this reason.  

 
 
3.        Cemetery operations during the pandemic  
  
3.1  A decision was taken not to close cemeteries during the pandemic. However, 

chapels were closed to funeral attendees on the 18th March, and 
recommendations put in place to limit the number attending and the length of 
the service in line with Government guidance. The Cemeteries office was 
closed to the public for face to face meetings, to protect staff. Safe working 
procedures were put in place to reduce risk of virus transfer during burials.  

 
3.2 During April-June the number of burials increased from the seasonal average 

of 2-3 per week to an average of 12 per week. This increase in the number of 

Page 17



burials was anticipated and additional graves were dug in advance, using 
additional contractors trained by the gravedigging staff. Office tasks not 
associated with burials, such as grave searches, permits and cremated 
remains, were put on hold so that the number of funerals could be 
accommodated. 

 
4. Park Operations during the pandemic 
 
4.1 The council`s grounds maintenance (GM) contractor introduced safe working 

practices for staff on the 25th March to maintain social distancing. This 
included only one person per vehicle. Since most GM operations require the 
team to be mobile, 9 staff had to be temporarily furloughed. Consideration 
was also given to staff not using public transport as requested by the 
Government and the vulnerability of some workers or their families. This led to 
a further 9 workers being temporarily furloughed. Despite this and the 
additional work required to keep playgrounds and outdoor gyms closed, the 
contractor has performed well, providing much needed added capacity. 

 
4.2 Signage in playgrounds and outdoor gyms with no enclosing fence was 

insufficient to prevent access. Heras fencing was brought in to enclose some 
problem areas. Outdoor gym equipment proved particularly hard to stop 
people accessing, with fencing having to be repaired or replaced daily.  

  
4.3 Litter has been a significant problem during lockdown. With restaurants and 

cafes offering only a takeaway service, many people have used the parks as 
a convenient picnic spot and neglected to take their litter with them. As 
lockdown has eased this appears to be getting worse and some parks such 
as Wormholt Park and Wormwood Scrubs being targeted for illegal parties. 
The riverside walk including Bishops Park and Furnivall Gardens have 
experienced a lot of litter and as several pubs started to offer a takeaway 
drink service , this has caused a problem with public urination. 

 
4.4 During this period, consultation has been ongoing with Friends groups and the 

Parks Commission to establish the framework of a new grounds maintenance 
contract and Parks Strategy. Although these are extraordinary times, this 
engagement has reinforced the value people place on parks and open spaces 
and the many different activities that take place within them. The key themes 
that have emerged from this consultation include enhancing social value, 
improved community engagement, protecting green spaces, improving quality 
standards, increasing biodiversity and more investment in infrastructure. A 
report from the Parks Commission will be presented to the council later this 
year. 

 
  
5.   Reopening of facilities and measures put in place  
 
5.1 Following the first easing of lockdown and the announcement that tennis and 

basketball could take place in parks, the service has followed each national 
governing body(NGB) of sport`s guidelines. The Lawn Tennis Association 
provided guidance once it was announced that you could meet one person 

Page 18



from another household for exercise. Tennis courts are booked through an 
online system with a code allowing access to the court. This reduces the risk 
of overcrowding. Tennis courts with this booking system were reopened in 
mid-May with appropriate signage in place. Appendix 1 Illustration 3. 

 
5.2 Basketball courts and other multi use games areas (MUGA’s) were not 

opened at the same time as tennis. Without a booking system it would be 
difficult to stop more than two people from different households meeting up. 
Once further easing allowed the meeting of a group of up to 6 people for 
exercise, MUGA’s were opened on the 10th June. This also allowed sport 
coaching of small groups to resume.  

 
5.3 Easing of restrictions has also allowed the opening of other parks facilities 

such as cricket nets, bowls clubs, cafes, markets and toilets. These have 
been considered on a case by case basis with a written risk assessment 
required from each operator. 

 
5.4 Toilets in Ravenscourt Park and Bishops park were re-opened on 18th June. A 

formal risk assessment was approved by the Health and Safety and Insurance 
teams with additional signage and cleaning operations in place. The toilets 
are currently only open between 9:00am and 3:00pm to ensure that there are 
enough staff available to keep them clean. All other toilets in parks are either 
within sports changing rooms or managed by cafes (Normand Park, South 
Park and Brook Green) and are not yet open to the public. 

 
5.5 Following guidance from the England Cricket Board (ECB) allowing the use of 

cricket nets, these were reopened on 24th June. The ECB have also  
introduced recreational cricket matches from 4th July.  

 
5.6  Following the announcement that play areas and outdoor gyms could re-open 

from the 4th July, risk assessments and signage have been agreed. Heras 
fencing needed to be removed and all play areas and outdoor gyms re-
opened on the 7th July. Signage, in line with other London Boroughs for play 
areas is in place, which encourages users to act on social distancing and take 
personal hygiene measures. See Appendix 1 Illustration 4. 

  
5.7 All sports changing rooms remain closed on Government advice and no 

bookings are being taken for team sport matches (except for cricket). Limited 
training sessions for 6 participants are being taken at Linford Christie Stadium 
for the Thames Valley Harriers (Athletics) and other sports on parks pitches. 

 
 
6.       Any challenges and potential mitigations 
 
6.1 Council services, including the parks team, are reviewing their performance 

during the lockdown, ready to respond to a potential second lockdown if 
required. 

 
 
List of Appendices: 

Page 19



 
Appendix 1 Illustrations 
 
 
Appendix 1 
 
 

Page 20



Page 21



 
 
Illustration 1: Banner to reinforce social distancing message Illustration 2: 
Information sign that facility is closed 
 

Page 22



 

Page 23



 
Illustration 3: Tennis signage during first easing of lockdown  Illustration 4: 
Play signage to simplify the message 

Page 24



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
Report to:    Community Safety and Environment Policy & Accountability Committee 
 
Date:   20/07/2020 
 
Subject:  Temporary Cycle Lanes  
 
Report of:  Bram Kainth – Chief Officer (Public Realm) 
 
Responsible Director:  Sharon Lea – Strategic Director for the Environment 
 

 
Summary 
 
The public health emergency resulting from the Covid19 pandemic has transformed 
the context for Transport and brought into focus some of the inherent limitations in 
the way space is allocated on the public highway and in public spaces generally. 
 
The way people travel to access employment, education, leisure and retail facilities 
will be different as we emerge out of lockdown.  Public transport facilities such as 
tube and bus services are likely to remain reduced for some time and the need to 
enable more sustainable journeys and greater choice for travel is paramount to 
support local businesses, the community and the economic recovery. 
 
Reduced congestion and improved air quality were demonstrated during lockdown 
and the need to maintain provision for more sustainable journeys for the long term 
evident.  Temporary Cycle Lanes continue to play a key part in enabling sustainable 
journeys and will play a key role in the recovery. 
 
Recommendations 
 
For the Committee to note the report, comment and/or derive recommendations. 
 
Wards Affected: All 
 
  

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



Contact Officer(s): 
 
Name:  Masum Choudhury 
Position:  Head of Transport 
Telephone:  020 8753 3354 
Email: Masum.Choudhury@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
Appendix 1 - GOLD and SLT Report COVID Response Transport Strategy 

 

 
 
Background to Temporary Cycle Lanes  

1. The coronavirus (COVID-19) crisis has had a terrible impact on the lives and 
health of many UK citizens, as well as severe economic consequences. But it has 
also resulted in cleaner air and quieter streets, transforming the environment in 
our borough. 

2. Levels of walking and cycling have increased during the COVID-19 pandemic, 
after the government issued rules and guidance instructing people to avoid public 
transport and stay at home to control the spread of the virus. 

3. On 9th May the Government announced that councils should reallocate road 
space to accommodate “significantly increased numbers” of cyclists and 
pedestrians. 

4. Some of the first measures in London to be implemented were the new 
temporary segregated cycle lanes that opened in Hammersmith on the 18th May 
as part of plans to adapt public spaces in the borough.  In Hammersmith these 
measures will: 

 Make it easier and safer for people to maintain social distancing 

 Avoid a sharp increase in car use. If people switch even a fraction of their 
previous journeys to cars, congestion will return impacting on essential 
deliveries and emergency services 

 Keep the air as clean as possible to protect everyone's health and to reduce 
carbon emissions 

 Support those who are less mobile or cannot walk or cycle by limiting demand 
on public transport 

 

Page 26



5. More than two miles of pop-up cycle lanes have been marked out with barriers 
from King Street at the border with Chiswick, around Hammersmith Gyratory and 
down Hammersmith Road to Olympia, using more than 3,500 barriers.  

6. In addition, new temporary cycle lanes have now been installed on Wood lane 
and at Shepherds Bush Green. 

7. In April, pavements in the busy shopping areas of King Street and Uxbridge 
Road were temporarily widened to help pedestrians queue safely outside shops 
and to pass each other while social distancing. 

 
Decision-making for Temporary Cycle Lanes 
 
8. The roll out of temporary cycle lanes under emergency powers during the early 

stages of the pandemic enabled a prompt response to the crisis and adherence 
to government guidelines.     

 
9. Where required temporary traffic orders were used and will continue to be used 

and revised guidance issued by the Department for Transport on advertising 
traffic regulation orders during the COVID-19 pandemic continues to be followed. 

 
10. A report (Appendix 1 - GOLD and SLT Report COVID Response Transport 

Strategy) was presented at the GOLD and SLT Boards on 5th May 2020 and 11th 
May 2020 respectively.  This report set out the Council’s transport response to 
the COVID-19 pandemic and the revised delivery approach. 
 

11. The necessary legal process for emergency, temporary, experimental or 
permanent schemes will continue to be followed alongside the Council’s 
governance and decision-making process.   

 
 
Considerations for policy and community engagement 
 
12. The existing policy context for transport, climate change and public realm 

remains a key driver for change both locally and regionally.  The strategic and 

local road network aligns to achieve these principles and therefore all schemes 

should aim to reduce road casualties, improve cycling and pedestrian facilities 

and enable sustainable journeys, while enhancing the environment for all. 

 
13. The policy context as we emerge from the pandemic brings into sharp focus 

multidisciplinary policy agendas across, economy, climate emergency, transport, 
public health and wellbeing.  How these align and deliver what will emerge as 
normality is a key consideration when delivering temporary or permanent 
changes to the road network. 

 
14. Following installation of the temporary cycle lanes, The Climate and Ecological 

Emergency Commission and the Cycling and Walking Commission provided 
views which led to some changes on site and to our internal processes.  Ongoing 

Page 27

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/articles/news/2020/04/hf-introduce-temporary-wider-pavements-help-shoppers-social-distancing


engagement with the Commissions will also shape the launch of future trials and 
the design of permanent schemes.  

 
15. Wide ranging and numerous perspectives exist in the community from residents, 

businesses, commuters and different road users; all with differing needs and 
views.  A key challenge remains in balancing these needs, perceived needs and 
the wider context of changing behaviours, attitudes and modes of travel. 
 

16. Feedback from members of the public and businesses, is being used to make 
changes to temporary schemes such as alterations for accessibility, loading or 
bus stops.  These will continue to be reviewed and design changes incorporated 
before installing semi-permanent materials. 

 
 

Page 28



Report to GOLD: Tuesday 5th May 2020 

Report to SLT: Monday 11th May 2020 

 
GOLD and SLT Report - Transport Response to Covid19 
  
Executive Summary  
 
In response to the Covid19 emergency and to manage the recovery and transport concerns 
in a post Covid19 context, this paper addresses a revised approach to delivering on existing 
policy concerns across Transport, Climate Change, Health and Wellbeing and the Economy.  
In this setting, there is also significant uncertainty with Transport for London’s delivery 
programme and ongoing funding, therefore a reprioritisation to bring forward schemes that 
address long term Healthy Streets, Low Traffic and Liveable Neighbourhoods have been 
brought to the fore. 
 
Immediate action has been identified in Phase 1 and 2 of the delivery plan that seeks to 
address concerns during lockdown around physical distancing, footway constraints and road 
space, while supporting the community to adhere to government guidance.  Delivery and 
sites identified in these phases have already been implemented and will continue to be 
brought forward at pace (days and weeks).  
 
Phases 3 and 4 of the delivery plan, seeks to manage the recovery concerns of returning to 
high traffic volumes and compromised air quality, while also addressing pre-existing issues 
and policy drivers on climate emergency, air quality, congestion, through traffic, travel 
demand and enabling better sustainable journeys.   Areas for Low Traffic Neighbourhoods 
and Healthy Streets will be brought forward and implemented at a quicker pace with trials 
identified in weeks and then delivered as we begin to ease restrictions and enter recovery.   
  

Page 29



 
1. Background  
 

Hammersmith & Fulham’s LIP3 sets out the Council’s local implementation plan for the 
Mayor’s Transport Strategy for London in the borough.  It provides information and 
details on the projects and initiatives that will be required in order to deliver the 
objectives of the strategy 
 
The public health emergency resulting from the Covid19 pandemic has transformed the 
context within which the Transport Strategy sits.  The need to impose physical distancing 
measures in order to reduce virus transmission has brought into focus some of the 
limitations inherent in the way space is allocated on the public highway and in public 
spaces generally 
 
The need for key workers to access workplaces safely when public transport services are 
significantly reduced, has highlighted in some places the current lack of quality routes 
for cycling and pavement width for pedestrians.  In some instances, vulnerable people 
are unable to leave their homes, and many are now relying on the council to provide 
them with essential supplies.  Local businesses are also struggling to survive and will 
need to find new ways to reach their customers to provide products and services, both 
during the pandemic and when lockdown measures are eased 
 
Traffic volumes have significantly reduced and encouraged many people to turn to 
walking and cycling, this has also improved the air quality across London.  However as 
reported by the police, instances of speeding have increased, therefore temporary and 
transition measures must also consider this challenge when increasing road space for 
cyclists and pedestrians and any accessibility needs where measures are introduced 
 
Measures suitable to address many of the issues are identified in the Transport Strategy, 
but the need to act at pace is apparent, with immediate action required in some cases 
 
While many policy areas may seek a return to the pre-Covid19 status quo, for transport 
and environmental objectives this is not the case. The Transport Strategy had long 
sought to encourage behaviour change, enable people to make better journey choices 
and change their mode of transport.  Low Traffic Neighbourhoods and Healthy Streets 
has been a core theme and driver for the Transport Strategy and a key interdisciplinary 
element of the Council’s policy themes in Economy, Health, Wellbeing, Climate Change 
and the drive to achieve net zero by 2030 
 
Therefore, when planning our response to the current situation a key consideration 
should be avoiding a return to pre-existing traffic volumes. This will require constraining 
traffic, together with measures to further promote and enable sustainable forms of 
travel 

  

Page 30



 
2. Air Quality and Traffic Volumes pre and during Covid19 

 
Figure below shows the change in hourly average NO2 at all sites in central London, 
from the period January – April. The red line shows the hourly trends in NO2 in central 
London from 1 January 2017 – 20 April 2017 (before changes associated with the central 
ULEZ took full effect). The green line shows the hourly trends in NO2 in central London 
from 1 January – 15 March 2020, with the ULEZ in place. The blue line shows the hourly 
trends in NO2 in central London from 16 March – 20 April 2020, since the Covid19 
pandemic.  

 

 
 

In 2020, before the Covid19 outbreak, hourly average NO2 at all sites in central 
London had already reduced by over one third (35 per cent) compared to the same 
period in 2017. Since 16 March 2020 there has been an additional reduction of 26 
per cent. The reduction is even higher at roadside sites. 

 
In LBHF Daily average NO2 has reduced by around 40 per cent at Air Quality 
Monitoring roadside sites in Hammersmith Town Centre and Shepherds Bush Town 
Centre. 

 

Page 31



Road transport accounts for around half of London’s NOx emissions and a third of 
PM emissions. Since the beginning of March road traffic in London has reduced by 
around 50 per cent London wide. Figure below shows the percentage reduction in 
vehicle kilometres travelled in 2020 compared to the comparable day in 2019. Please 
note, the central London ULEZ, which was introduced in April 2019, had already 
reduced traffic in the central zone by approximately 10 per cent.  Departure from 
usual travel behaviour began around Monday 16 March, when the UK Government 
strongly recommended social distancing and home working where possible. 

 

 
 
 

  

Page 32



3. Key principles  
 

Key principles for the Transport Strategy response in the emergent Covid19 context are 
as follows; 

 
3.1. Compliance with government guidance 
 

Social and physical distancing is the main method being deployed to reduce virus 
transmission. The need for distancing is likely to continue well into the recovery 
period and when lockdown measures are eased. The use of road space is the main 
physical element in enabling compliance with guidance 

 
3.2. Essential journeys to be made safely and sustainably 
 

Key workers, including those providing health and social care, still need to travel 
during the lockdown period.  As restrictions ease, wider groups are likely to begin 
travelling and therefore the number of trips will increase.  Journeys on public 
transport and road need to be managed to ensure safety and to maintain low levels 
of private motor vehicle traffic and greater walking and cycling journeys 

 
3.3. Support vulnerable people  
 

People identified as particularly vulnerable to Covid19 require support and the 
council has already organised help through Project Shield and CAN (Community Aid 
Network), with deliveries of essential supplies being co-ordinated across the 
borough. The requirement is likely to continue for some time and planning is 
currently taking place to make more deliveries by bike.  Any changes to footways or 
kerbside, such as parking suspensions or segregation, will also need to consider the 
need for access to vulnerable households and essential services 

 
3.4. Support the local economy  
 

Markets and other shopping areas that rely on footfall and customer contact may 
find it particularly difficult to adapt as restrictions ease and businesses re-open.  
Ensuring that provision is made to enable people to walk or cycle to key areas of 
economic activity or transport interchanges will be important to supporting 
businesses.  New considerations for sustainable last mile deliveries and 
consolidating freight to make fewer trips will be important to sustaining a healthy 
local economy 

 
3.5. Planning for the immediate, a transition period and the long term  
 

Immediate actions to protect public health through enabling physical distancing and 
better use of road space is an essential start.  Beyond this we need consideration on 
how to manage the transport network as restrictions are eased, and through the 
recovery period to the long term. A phased approach to our response, will allow 
expediated action, much of which has already been underway such as temporary 

Page 33



measures on King Street, Uxbridge Road and the River Walk.  Appropriate measures 
to transition to when schools or education establishments are reopened and 
measures that constrain traffic for the long term must also be enabled 

 
3.6. Governance and Policy  
 

Any measures, particularly changes to the highway, must be carefully considered 
and sit within the existing policy framework, including our approach to road danger 
reduction and the Covid19 public health context. As emergency powers will be used, 
with reduced ability and timescales for consultation, the Council’s actions must be 
clear and transparent to stakeholders and build on implementing the existing policy 
suite 

  

Page 34



4. Interventions and measures 
 

4.1. Reallocating road space and footway widening  
 

Many locations in the borough have footways that do not have capacity to enable 
physical distancing.  Depending on road layout it may be possible to create 
additional space for walking at these locations. It will be necessary to prioritise 
locations, for example on routes to open spaces during the lockdown period and in 
town centres when restrictions are eased 
 
The Council’s Transport and Highway officers have in-depth knowledge of areas 
with high demand and feedback from road users and the community will inform 
further changes.  The context of each area, such as proximity to open space, 
schools, shopping areas, transport hubs, or leisure and commuter routes, will need 
to be considered when designing and implementing changes 
 
Temporary changes have been implemented in specific areas such as King Street, 
Uxbridge Road and the river walk which included temporary widening of footways, 
queueing over Hammersmith Bridge and marshalling.  Revisiting some of these sites 
will be needed to incorporate provision for cycling or to expand on temporary 
footway measures.  Additional locations in the borough that are problematic such as 
North End Road and Hammersmith Road will also require intervention 

 
4.2. Transport for London - Network, Transport Hubs and Bus Routes     

 
All traffic signals and the bus network in the borough are managed by TfL and they 
have an important role to play in meeting our Covid19 response objectives. TfL are 
currently focussed on maintaining essential services safely but have indicated the 
pre-Covid19 delivery programme will require an overhaul. The Council will therefore 
work with the GLA and TfL to reprioritise our transport programme and bring 
forward measures that will benefit our residents for the near and long term 
 
Measures to include; 
 
Temporary footway widening at pinch points where the TLRN runs near the town 
centre or shopping centres, and footfall is expected to be high when current 
restrictions are lifted e.g. Hammersmith Broadway, Fulham Town Centre, White 
City, Shepherds Bush.  Similarly, at transport hubs such as rail or underground 
stations and bus stop boarding areas 
 
The creation of temporary cycle lanes on key routes where space allows, or where 
this will be beneficial to key workers accessing healthcare facilities e.g. King Street, 
Hammersmith Road, Uxbridge Road and Shepherd Bush Green 
 
Extending bus lane operational hours or considering temporary re-routing of buses, 
particularly where cycle flows are high or road width is narrow 
 

Page 35



Re-phasing of traffic signals to reduce wait time for pedestrians, particularly where 
footway crowding may be an issue e.g. in town centres such as Hammersmith 
Broadway or in the vicinity of Westfield 

 
4.3. Low Traffic and Low Emission Neighbourhoods  

 
Low traffic and low emission neighbourhoods are in various phases of development 
and it is proposed to expediate the work in bringing forward trial or experimental 
measures.  This will also help to address road danger and limit a return to increased 
traffic volumes and improve air quality to support the climate change emergency. 
 
Areas where high through traffic existed pre-Covid19 or near the proximity of major 
attractors will be prioritised for example South Fulham, North End Road Market and 
the Brackenbury Area.  Other neighbourhoods within the proximity of 
Hammersmith Broadway, the Town Centre, Shepherds Bush Green and Westfield 
will also be developed and brought forward for trial or experimental measures. 

 
4.4. Healthy Streets  

 
Following emergence out of the recovery phase and into the long term, the healthy 
streets principles remains a key driver for long term cleaner, healthier and safer 
neighbourhoods.  Residential roads, areas near schools and open spaces can be re 
prioritised to constrain through traffic and enhance the public realm through the 
implementation of Home Zones or School Streets.  Neighbourhoods and streets can 
be further enhanced through the introduction of greening, or dwell spaces and 
Sustainable Urban Drainage. 
 
Major schemes such as the Safer Cycle Pathway, Uxbridge Road and Shepherds 
Bush will be developed with the Healthy Streets perspective and the approach 
applied to neighbourhoods to maximise the potential for limiting vehicular traffic 
and enhancing the cycle, walking and public realm profile of the area.  

 

Page 36



 
Figure 1:  Healthy Streets Indicators 

  

Page 37



 
5. Delivery approach  

 
Several phases have been identified to enable delivery and the key context identified.  
Measures considered to be particularly appropriate to each phase are listed.  A list of 
sites and areas identified for phased delivery can also be referred to in Appendix A. 
 
Phases 1 and 2 are an immediate and urgent response to the current situation and 
aspects and sites not already implemented will be delivered in a matter of days and 
weeks. 
 
Phases 3 and 4 are an expediated work programme brought forward to be delivered at 
pace.  These will be defined and concluded over a few weeks and be prepared for trials 
as soon as restrictions are eased. 

 
5.1. Phase 1 - Short term, lockdown (days/weeks). 

 

 
Situational Identifiers 

 

 
Measures and Interventions 

 

 Majority of people stay at home 
 

 Traffic volumes are low 
 

 Enable key workers to travel safely 
 

 General travel is discouraged 
 

 Enable physical distancing  
 

 Space for exercise needed 
 
 

 

 Use of temporary barriers to 
create additional road space for 
pedestrians at key locations 
(where no traffic order required) 

 

 Making streets access only for 
motor vehicles so that road 
danger is reduced and there is 
more space for walking and 
cycling 

 

 Footway markings to indicate 
queuing locations and separation 
at key locations 

 

 Request action from TfL at 
locations on their highway 
network 

 

 Use cycle training provider for 
essential deliveries for the 
vulnerable 

 

 Source provider of bike loans for 
key workers  

 

Page 38



 

5.2. Phase 2 - Near term, lockdown restrictions eased (weeks) 
 

 
Situational Identifiers 

 

 
Measures and Interventions 

 

 Majority of people stay at home 
 

 More trips are being made 
 

 Traffic is moderate  
 

 Physical distancing still required  
 

 People avoiding public transport 
 

 Focus on employment and shopping 
centers, town centers and transport 
hubs 

 

 

 Further footway widening 
 

 Introduce cycle lanes and access 
only restrictions at certain 
locations 

 

 Consider road space at priority 
locations to create high quality 
links into employment areas and 
town centers. 

 

 Revisit and transition existing sites 
and explore temporary orders. 

 

 Bring forward some elements of 
Low Traffic Neighborhoods (LTNs) 
areas  

 

 Explore application of local and 
last mile delivery service 

 

 
5.3. Phase 3 - Medium term, restrictions lifted (weeks / months) 

 

 
Situational Identifiers 

 

 
Measures and Interventions 

 

 Stay at home for the vulnerable  
 

 Trips levels increasing  
 

 Education trips resume 
 

 Footfall is moderate but traffic 
increasing 

 

 People avoiding public transport 
 

 

 Further reallocating of footways 
and road space with parking 
suspensions where required in 
areas of high footfall 

 

 Engage TfL to consider interim bus 
priority measures and greater 
pedestrian priority at traffic 
signals. 

 

 Restrictions around schools and 
key attractors such as bus and rail 

Page 39



 Physical distancing still required  
 

 Focus on destinations, town 
centers, schools and transport hubs 

 

stations 
 

 Launch temporary measures 
including South Fulham and North 
End Road 

 

 
 

5.4. Phase 4 – Recovery and long term (months +) 
 

 
Situational Identifiers 

 

 
Measures and Interventions 

 

 Trips and travel returning to new 
‘normal’ level 

 

 Physical distancing may still be 
required 

 

 Focus on maintaining ‘new status 
quo’ with lower levels of private car 
use, emissions and better air 
quality. 

 

 Focus on neighborhoods and 
supporting the local economy 

 

 

 Permanent re-allocation of road 
space to pedestrians. 

 

 Expand Low Traffic and Low 
Emission Neighborhood trials and 
incorporate Healthy Streets 
principles 

 

 New parking and kerbside strategy 
 

 Extend and establish local delivery 
service model and freight 
management for town centers 

 
  

Page 40



 

5.5. Internal delivery and resource 
 

The highways team have been able to promptly respond and roll out temporary and 
emergency measures at the river walk and Hammersmith Bridge, King Street and 
Uxbridge Road.  This work will be further progressed in enhancing and introducing 
cycle lanes at specific sites in the borough. 
 
For subsequent phases, Transport and Highways are being realigned to focus on 
reprofiling the LIP programme and bringing forward relevant Low Traffic and Low 
Emission Neighbourhoods.  For some schemes it could mean an element of de-
scoping and developing the most appropriate aspects of existing schemes.   
 
The major schemes portfolio is also being progressed, however with a view to 
ensure that for the long term, pre-Covid19 traffic volumes do not return and that 
long term healthier streets are the eventual outcome.   
 
A joint team will be assembled to co-ordinate activity and ensure consistent focus.   
The initial emphasis will be on measures that can be delivered within days, such as 
footway widening at key locations expected to have high footfall such as food retail 
locations and routes to parks and open spaces.  This will be subsequently followed 
up with the introduction of cycle lanes on key commuter routes and then teams and 
individuals assigned to specific low traffic schemes.  
 
Resources are limited and this work will be prioritised ahead of other work tasks as 
necessary. This may result in changes to the planned work programme / business as 
usual.   

  

Page 41



6. Funding 
 
In order to bring forward existing planned projects such as Low Traffic or Liveable 
Neighbourhood, continued TfL funding has been expected.  
 
Due to TfL’s financial concerns in the context of Covid19, the LIP allocation for the 
2020/21 financial year is no longer guaranteed.  In dialogue with TfL it is apparent that 
schemes that reallocate road space and enhance footways and cycle lanes will be 
prioritised for continued funding.  The uncertainty around TfL’s fuding is a key risk to the 
boroughs funding profile, if Low Traffic Neighbourhoods and Healthy Streets projects are 
brought forward, there is a high probability of maintaining funding for taking these 
schemes forward.  TfL have indicated that £45m will be available for funding between all 
London boroughs in order to reallocate space as an immediate response to Covid19, and 
to launch trial and experimental schemes that bring forward low traffic and low emission 
neighbourhoods.   

 
The costs for initial works focusing on temporary footway widening (Phase 1 and Phase 2 
at Appendix A) including layout design, materials, implementation and maintenance is 
expected to be rechargeable to TfL.  The average cost for this profile of work is 
estimated at £4k per km per week. 
 
There are significant sources of funds form capital and major schemes for enhancing 
pedestrian, cycle lanes and bus prioritisation and it is expected that this funding will 
remain to support schemes identified in Phases 3 and 4 with any LIP reprioritisation 
being made available to bring forward projects for trial and delivery.   

 
7. Legal considerations  
 

Urgent measures such as narrowing / reducing traffic lanes to increase footway space do 
not require a traffic order and can be implemented under existing highway powers. In 
some cases, a temporary order may be required if footways are closed or lanes or roads 
are closed.  Any changes affecting parking, loading or traffic movements also require a 
traffic order. 
 
It is recommended that temporary, experimental, permanent or borough-wide traffic 
orders are made in order to cover a range of interventions, depending on the purpose.    
 
New guidance issued by the Department for Transport on advertising Traffic Regulation 
Orders during Covid19 will be followed.  

 
8. Stakeholder engagement  
 

Where existing working groups, residents’ associations, WAGs or residents’ commissions 
are in place, they will be engaged with proposed changes in the area along with ward 
councillors. 
 

Page 42



The Council will continue to meet legal requirements relating to statutory consultation 
and will engage key local stakeholders.  Although in some cases, it will be necessary to 
accelerate the process for Phase 1 and 2 as it is an emergency response to Covid19.  For 
schemes brought forward in Phase 3 and 4, communications with members and the 
public will continue and where possible street trials and experimental measures will be 
used as part of an ongoing engagement process. Emergency services will also be 
informed and consulted with as part of the statutory process.  

 
9. Governance 

 
The Strategic Director for Environment will oversee and agree the response in 
consultation with The Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Member for Environment.   
 
The Chief Officer for Public Realm will be responsible for delegated decisions relating to 
programme scope.  The Assistant Director for Highways and Environment Special 
Projects will be responsible for urgent and immediate roll-out under existing emergency 
provisions and the Head of Transport will be responsible for delegated decisions relating 
to Traffic Regulation Orders, project development and implementation.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 43



Appendix A: Priority interventions by street / area  
  
Schemes Underway (Phase 1 and 2) 
 
As an urgent and immediate response to Covid19 we have utilised temporary barriers to 
widen footways and introduced queuing to enable physical distancing at the following 
locations; 
 

 King Street (implemented) 

 Hammersmith Road (implemented) 

 Uxbridge Road (implemented) 

 River walk and Hammersmith Bridge (implemented) 
 
We are also exploring the possibilities for North End Road which remains challenging due to 
the width of the carriageway. 
 
In addition, we are also aiming to revisit the above locations to further enhance the 
temporary measures by adding cycle lanes on the key thoroughfares such as the route of 
the Safer Cycle Pathway, Uxbridge Road and Shepherds Bush Green.  In some roads, access 
only restrictions can be introduced such as the approaches to the river walk or in locations 
that are residential or have schools in the vicinity.   
 
Make access only;  
 

 Approaches to river walk – w/c 6th June 

 Residential streets that experience high through traffic 

 King Street – (TBC) 
 
Introduce segregated Cycle Lanes; 
 

 King Street – w/c 18th May 

 Hammersmith Road – w/c 18th May 

 Uxbridge Road – w/c 1st June 

 Shepherds Bush Green – w/c 1st June 

 Wood Lane – w/c 1st June 
 
  

Page 44



Potential Schemes (Phase 3 and 4) 
 
In addition to implementing the schemes mentioned above, significant development work is 
being undertaken to bring forward low traffic neighbourhoods quickly in order to define 
concepts and secure funding for trial and experimental schemes.  It is envisaged that such 
schemes will embrace the healthy streets principles and be key enablers to more cycle and 
walking as we emerge from the Covid19 crisis into a ‘new normal’. 
 
These schemes would introduce interim measures such as the use of non-permanent 
segregation materials like rubber kerbing or planters to mark out new road space, 
temporary traffic signal changes and road and junction reprioritisation in order to constrain 
the return to greater volumes of vehicular traffic. 
 
Key trial schemes to be brought forward are; 
 

 Safer Cycle Pathway and A4 

 Uxbridge Road and Shepherd Bush Green 

 Wood Lane 
 
In addition to the major scheme areas this will also involve redefining neighbourhoods in 
the borough.   
 
Low traffic neighbourhoods defined and to be defined across Hammersmith and Fulham; 
 

 South Fulham  

 North End Road 

 Brackenbury and Grove Area 

 Cathnor Park 

 All other neighbourhoods (to be defined and concepts brought forward) 
 
Each area or corridor will also include areas of high volume and footfall around; 
 

 Schools 

 Rail Stations 

 Transport Hubs 

 Areas of high economic or leisure activity 
 
In addition to healthy streets principles, these areas will be further enhanced by the 
introduction of School Streets or Home Zones where appropriate. 
 
 
  

Page 45



Figure 1 – Low Traffic Neighbourhoods (under development) 
 

 

Page 46


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous meeting
	Minutes
	Final Minutes 10.02.2020
	Minutes


	5 Parks and Open Spaces in the Borough
	6 Temporary Cycle Lanes
	Appendix 1


